
 

SUMMARY OF THE MINUTES 
TOWN COUNCIL 

Thursday, February 19, 2015 – Council Chambers – Evening Session 1 
 2 
CALL TO ORDER 3 
Mayor Lacher called the regular session of the Town Council to order at 5:30 p.m. 4 
 5 
ROLL CALL 6 
Councilmembers: Position No. 2, Noel Monin; Position No. 3, Anna Maria de Freitas; and Position No. 4, 7 
Farhad Ghatan were present. 8 
 9 
Others Present: Mayor, Carrie Lacher; Treasurer, Kelle’ Wilson; Town Administrator, Duncan Wilson; and 10 
Clerk, Amy Taylor. 11 
 12 
Position No. 1, Steve Hushebeck; and Position No. 5, Barbara Starr were not present.  The Council 13 
unanimously approved their absences. 14 
 15 
FLAG SALUTE 16 
Mayor Lacher conducted the flag salute. 17 
 18 
ANNOUNCEMENTS/SCHEDULE CHANGES 19 
No announcements were forthcoming. 20 
 21 
PUBLIC ACCESS TIME 22 
No public access was forthcoming. 23 
 24 
PUBLIC HEARINGS 25 
Rezone Application No. 64 26 
At 5:35 p.m., Mayor Lacher opened the public hearing to consider Rezone Application No. 64, a request 27 
for a zoning designation change from single-family residential to utility by the Town of Friday Harbor.  28 
 29 
The subject property is approximately is approximately 1.14 acres in size and identified as Tax Parcel No. 30 
351151029 located at 415 Tucker Avenue. It is non-residential as shown on the Town’s Classification 31 
Map. The property abuts property to the north that is zoned Professional Services and Single Family. 32 
Across the street is property zoned Utility (Waste Water Treatment Plant).  Other abutting properties to 33 
the east and west are zoned Single Family. 34 
 35 
Mayor Lacher asked if any Councilmember wished to excuse themselves from participating.  Council 36 
answered in the negative.  There was no response to Mayor Lacher’s inquiry if anyone objected to her 37 
or any Councilmember’s participation in the public hearing process.  Council responded in the negative 38 
to Mayor Lacher’s inquiry regarding personal interest in the properties or issue. Council responded in the 39 
negative to Mayor Lacher’s inquiry regarding personal gain or loss of financial benefit; and communication 40 
with opponents or proponents regarding said application.  Council answered in the affirmative regarding 41 
hearing and considering the matter in a fair and objective manner. 42 
 43 
Mayor Lacher asked Land Use Administrator, Mike Bertrand, to present the staff report dated February 44 
9, 2015. Mr. Bertrand entered no exhibits.  45 
 46 



TOWN COUNCIL MINUTES – Page 2 of 7 
Thursday, February 19, 2015 @ “Evening Session” 
 

C:\Users\std.TOFH\Desktop\min_temp\021915-pm.docx 

The zoning designation and the land use classification of the property allows the Council, if deemed in 47 
the best interest of the Town, the authority to grant the zoning change that has been requested per 48 
municipal code.   49 
 50 
Staff evaluation and recommendation is that the Town Council approve the application based on the 51 
following criteria:  52 
 53 
1) The request is consistent with the adopted Comprehensive Plan;  54 
2) The rezone to utility zone is consistent with the non-residential classification as shown on the amended 55 
2002 Comprehensive Plan Land Use Map;  56 
3) The Council has the authority under Section 20.08 FHMC to review and act on land use rezones; 57 
4) During the 2011 Comprehensive Amendment cycle, several applicants asked for change from 58 
residential to non-residential.  During this time it was determined that the area should include additional 59 
parcels on Tucker Avenue. 60 
5) As in all development within the Town, the parcel must meet the regulations.  All of the requirements 61 
ensure that the public’s safety and welfare are met. 62 
 63 
Mr. Bertrand explained that the parcel meets all requirements of the utility zone; and the proposal meets 64 
all criteria of the FHMC that are most applicable to this proposal. Additionally, Mr. Bertrand explained 65 
that no plans have been made for the property, however Town has considered placement of a public 66 
works shop, utility expansion, or park if/when needed.  Mr. Bertrand described neighboring properties. 67 
 68 
Mayor Lacher opened the hearing to Council questions.  69 
 70 
Councilmember Monin requested the zoning description from the property south. Councilmember de 71 
Freitas requested the zoning designation and uses of other Town owned properties in the neighborhood. 72 
Councilmember Ghatan requested the designation for the remaining properties abutting Town parcels. 73 
 74 
At 5:39 p.m., Mayor Lacher opened the public hearing to audience testimony. 75 
 76 
Dan Zaehring, 1008 Park Street, testified that he was an adjacent property holder and entered Exhibit A 77 
(written comments) into the record.  Mr. Zaehring stated that rezoning of the property to utility zone 78 
with its wide permissible uses will negatively affect the value of the residence he owns and neighboring 79 
single-family residential (SFR) parcels.  Mr. Zaehring testified that a utility zone is not compatible with 80 
the neighbor zoning; structures could conceivably be higher than standard height limits (examples cited 81 
in exhibit); and that no barrier would be sufficient to substantially mitigate sights and sounds.  Mr. 82 
Zaehring concluded with urging the Council to reject or modify the application to a less intense zone. 83 
 84 
Brian Johnson, 680 Harbor Street, testified that he bought an adjacent lot with the understanding that 85 
there may be future development at the subject property.  Mr. Johnson testified that the potential uses 86 
for the utility zone will affect their property and the neighborhood.  Mr. Johnson urged the Council to 87 
protect the neighboring SFR parcels from potential uses.  Mr. Johnson asked if a portion will remain open 88 
space for public use. 89 
 90 
Jennifer Johnson, 680 Harbor Street, testified that she had concerns that “utility uses” remain safe for 91 
children in the area. 92 
 93 
Jeanie Fodor, 690 Harbor Street, testified that she was in agreement with Mr. Zaehring’s comments.  Ms. 94 
Fodor stated that she was concerned about having additional early morning noise from operation of 95 
equipment, potential for view blockage, and negative impacts property value.  96 
 97 



TOWN COUNCIL MINUTES – Page 3 of 7 
Thursday, February 19, 2015 @ “Evening Session” 
 

C:\Users\std.TOFH\Desktop\min_temp\021915-pm.docx 

Sally Thomson, 745-C Tarabocha Lane, testified that a potential compromise would be to situate the 98 
building and its access on Tucker Avenue and a park as a buffer/greenspace closer to the neighborhood, 99 
if the Town moves forward with a public works yard and park. 100 
 101 
Mayor Lacher asked if there were additional comments from the audience. 102 
 103 
Dan Zaehring asked if there was a method to zone with conditions to limit the uses. 104 
 105 
Mayor Lacher opened the hearing to Council questions.  Hearing no Council questions, Mayor Lacher 106 
asked if there were additional comment from staff or audience.   107 
 108 
Mr. Bertrand addressed concerns from the audience.  Mr. Bertrand clarified that the height limit stated 109 
in the code is intended to address issues specifically found at the SJI Transfer Station and not “carte 110 
blanche” development.  Town must adhere to all other development restrictions found in FHMC to protect 111 
neighboring properties. 112 
 113 
Jeanie Fodor stated concern that Town was requesting to rezone the property without specific plans in 114 
mind.  Ms. Fodor stated that it might alleviate concerns if neighbors could see what the Town was 115 
intending to do with the property. 116 
 117 
Councilmember Monin requested that the process for rezoning be reviewed. Mr. Bertrand and 118 
Administrator Wilson explained the classification and zoning processes and that there is not a requirement 119 
for a site plan to accompany a rezone request.  Mr. Wilson added that the Council may condition the 120 
rezone but it may become ineffective because any Council may as easily remove said conditions.  121 
 122 
Discussion followed among Council and Staff regarding ideas for potential uses of the property since 123 
purchased.  Potential uses mentioned included expansion of the Treatment Plant, park, buffer and 124 
development of a Public Works Yard. 125 
 126 
Councilmember de Freitas asked if a public process was required for site development.  Mr. Bertrand and 127 
Administrator Wilson explained that generally it is not required because site plans fall within the 128 
administrative process. A public process to consider site planning was encouraged for municipal 129 
development because it’s funded through public means. Mr. Bertrand explained that an option exists to 130 
split-zone the parcel. 131 
 132 
Hearing no other questions from the Council, Mayor Lacher asked if there were additional comments 133 
from the audience. 134 
 135 
Tawney Martel, 720 Harbor Street, testified that it’s been difficult to be a neighbor of the Waste Water 136 
Treatment Plant since 2005 because of noise, odor and other issues.  Ms. Martel stated concern over 137 
what burden it would cause her property and the neighborhood to add other utility uses from the abutting 138 
parcel. 139 
 140 
Dan Zaehring asked if the public record would state if the property was meant as a buffer.  Mr. Zaehring 141 
requested that, if so, the Council condition the rezoning appropriately. 142 
 143 
Mayor Lacher closed the public input portion of the hearing at 6:05 p.m., reserving the right to reopen if 144 
needed, and opened Council deliberations.  Councilmembers took turns expressing their views of the 145 
application. 146 
 147 



TOWN COUNCIL MINUTES – Page 4 of 7 
Thursday, February 19, 2015 @ “Evening Session” 
 

C:\Users\std.TOFH\Desktop\min_temp\021915-pm.docx 

Councilmember de Freitas inquired if the Council could condition the rezone to include public hearings to 148 
consider future development.  Administrator Wilson answered in the affirmative and explained that staff 149 
needs to be directed to what those conditions are and the findings of fact supporting them.  Administrator 150 
Wilson added that the Council would be required to go through the public hearing process if it places any 151 
condition on the rezone. 152 
 153 
Councilmember Monin inquired when the Town could be ready to make improvements on the parcel.  154 
Administrator Wilson answered that the Council has listed the improvements on the Town’s Capital 155 
Improvement Program for year 2015/2016 and set aside funding in the capital improvement budget for 156 
construction of a public work yard. 157 
 158 
Councilmember Ghatan listed compromises and mitigation measures he favored that were suggested to 159 
alleviate concerns, including placement and access to equipment on Tucker Avenue and park closer to 160 
the neighboring parcels.  Councilmember Monin agreed. 161 
 162 
Councilmember Monin commented that placing conditions on this Council may be unnecessary and create 163 
difficulties if improvements are planned that near in the future.  Councilmember Monin stated that the 164 
neighborhood is better served by constructing the additional digester at the Plant; and use of the property 165 
as a park and public works building.  Councilmember Monin noted that regardless of past Council and 166 
public perception, the Town cannot ignore the needs of the Sewer utility.  The property was purchased 167 
with Sewer Utility funding which leaves sewer related activities an option. 168 
 169 
Mayor Lacher asked when a site plan for a building and park could be developed.  Administrator Wilson 170 
stated that having the rezone completed will allow staff to begin the rudimentary planning process, 171 
however Town has only dedicated enough funds for a building at this time and not enough to complete 172 
landscape and buffering for a park. Administrator Wilson affirmed that improvements could not begin 173 
until late 2015/early 2016.  Mayor Lacher commented that her understanding is that the property was 174 
acquired to leave Town multiple future options. 175 
 176 
Administrator Wilson suggested that Council continue the deliberation portion of the hearing for staff to 177 
prepare supporting information which will include: 1) a provision to require public process for 178 
consideration of future site plans; and 2) a provision to require that improvements will be developed in 179 
a way to mitigate impacts on neighboring properties. 180 
 181 
Moved by Monin, seconded by Ghatan, to continue the deliberation portion of public hearing 182 
regarding Rezone Application No. 64 to March 5, 2015 at 5:30 p.m.  Motion passed 3-0 with 183 
Hushebeck and Starr absent. 184 
 185 
Mayor Lacher explained to the audience that the public testimony portion of the hearing was closed.  The 186 
Council is willing to consider reopening for written public testimony, if received.  Administrator Wilson 187 
explained the protocol for quaisi-judicial hearings pertaining to ex-parte communications.  188 
 189 
Island Rec - Proposition 1: 38.5¢ Levy 190 
At 6:28 p.m., Mayor Lacher opened the public hearing to consider whether the Town Council should 191 
support Island Rec’s proposition for a six year 38.5¢ per $1,000 of assessed valuation levy that will 192 
appear on the April 28, 2015 Special Election.  Mayor Lacher explained that the hearing was legislative 193 
in nature. 194 
 195 
The wording submitted to the SJC Auditor and currently being reviewed by the Prosecuting Attorney for 196 
Proposition 1 will ask: Shall the San Juan Island Park & Recreation District be authorized to levy an annual 197 
property tax of $0.385 cents or less per $1,000 of assessed valuation for the six years beginning in 2016 198 



TOWN COUNCIL MINUTES – Page 5 of 7 
Thursday, February 19, 2015 @ “Evening Session” 
 

C:\Users\std.TOFH\Desktop\min_temp\021915-pm.docx 

of which $0.185 cents per $1,000 or less will be dedicated to continue funding Island Rec programs, 199 
parks, and services; $0.12 cents per $1,000 or less will be dedicated to school sports in cooperation with 200 
the San Juan Island School District and 0.8 cents or less per $1,000 for the operations and maintenance 201 
of Friday Harbor Fields, a developed, donor funded, 30-acre community park? 202 
 203 
Administrator Wilson noted a scrivener’s error contained in the proposition language and explained that 204 
the Council will be considering an 8¢ or less per $1,000 instead of a .08¢ or less per $1,000 for operations 205 
and maintenance of the Friday Harbor Fields. 206 
 207 
Mayor Lacher opened the hearing to public testimony. 208 
 209 
Chris Lack, 48 Westwood Lane, testified that the levy would represent the 11th levy measure and 5th 210 
highest levy, while beneficiaries are a fraction of the payees.  Mr. Lack encouraged that Island Rec to 211 
consider a sales and use tax. 212 
 213 
Bill Cumming, San Juan Park and Rec Commissioner, explained that the measure is for maintenance only 214 
and no new growth in programs is anticipated.  Mr. Cumming stated that the levy may be 5th highest, 215 
but represents a combined levy for three distinct programs. 216 
 217 
Sally Thomsen, Island Rec Executive Director, explained that Island Rec has been receiving continual 218 
property tax levies for 25 years.  Park and Rec Districts are limited to six year or less property tax by 219 
State Law. 220 
 221 
Mayor Lacher opened the hearing to Council discussion. 222 
 223 
Councilmember Monin asked how this proposition addresses the unexpected budget shortfall if supported 224 
by the voters. Mr. Cumming explained that Island Rec has been considering several options.  Island Rec 225 
has opted to use reserves to pay back a portion. Island Rec is considering the bonding process going 226 
forward. 227 
 228 
Discussion followed regarding support of the measure as an elected body and constraints related to their 229 
individual elected positions. 230 
 231 
At 6:48 p.m., Mayor Lacher closed the public hearing. 232 
 233 
Resolution No. 2096 234 
Moved by Ghatan, second Monin, to adopt Resolution No. 2096, by the Town Council 235 
expressing support of Proposition 1 of the San Juan Island Parks and Recreation District at 236 
the April 28, 2015 Special Election. Motion passed 3-0 with Hushebeck and Starr absent. 237 
 238 
ACTION AND DISCUSSION ITEMS 239 
Island Rec – Annual Report 240 
At 6:26 p.m., Sally Thomsen explained that the annual report has not yet been released by the County 241 
and provided a brief overview of Island Rec’s activities in 2014. Mayor Lacher thanked Ms. Thomsen. 242 
 243 
Island Rec – O/M Agreement 244 
At 6:49 p.m., Mayor Lacher introduced discussion of the Operations and Maintenance (O/M) Agreement 245 
between Island Rec and School District 149 for use of the Friday Harbor Fields.  Administrator Wilson 246 
explained that Conditional Use Permit No. 68 is provisioned that Town will review the O/M agreement 247 
for compliance with the permit before final occupancy is granted. Island Rec has submitted the final and 248 
Land Use Administrator, Mike Bertrand, has determined that the agreement does not conflict with the 249 



TOWN COUNCIL MINUTES – Page 6 of 7 
Thursday, February 19, 2015 @ “Evening Session” 
 

C:\Users\std.TOFH\Desktop\min_temp\021915-pm.docx 

permit. Administrator Wilson explained that staff was seeking a motion to accept the agreement as 250 
presented. 251 
 252 
Councilmember Monin asked if the provision stating that the “Carter Street vehicle gate shall remain 253 
open” applies during hours of use or at all times.  Mr. Bertrand explained that closing the gate was 254 
discussed but not made a specific condition of the permit by the Council.  Mr. Bertrand stated that the 255 
agreement was only reviewed to determine if it was in compliance with CUP No. 68.  Administrator Wilson 256 
explained that Town may request revisions to the agreement. Councilmember Monin stated that he could 257 
foresee it becoming a nuisance for the neighborhood.   258 
 259 
Councilmember Monin listed several concerns and suggestions as follows: 260 

1. Vehicle access gate remaining open all hours will likely become a nuisance for the neighborhood. 261 
Unrestricted use of the dark parking lot provides the perfect opportunity for unsavory activities.  262 

2. Hours of operation currently reads “from 7:00 a.m. until dusk. This could also become a nuisance 263 
during the summer months when it doesn’t get dark until 11:00 p.m. 264 

3. Parking at the Carter Avenue cul-de-sac needs no parking and/or loading zone only designation. 265 
Vehicles are parking on the street instead of the parking lot to use the multiuse area closest to 266 
Carter Avenue. 267 

4. Overbooking and overuse of the Fields could be an issue for noise. 268 
5. People walking dogs off lease is becoming apparent.  A leash requirement should be posted. 269 

Administrator Wilson added concerns that neglectful owners could allow dogs to damage playing 270 
fields or interfere with practice. 271 

 272 
Land Use Administrator Bertrand stated that the cul-de-sac was on Town right-of-way and could be 273 
marked in any way the Town desired.  This includes signage or striping for no parking or loading zones. 274 
 275 
Administrator Wilson suggested that O/M Agreement, Section 5B regarding hours of use be amended to 276 
read, “…from 7:00 a.m. until dusk and/or no later than 10:00 p.m.” 277 
 278 
Sally Thomsen, Island Rec Director, stated that it is not feasible to have a staffer opening and closing 279 
the vehicle gate on a daily basis. The FH Athletic Association has installed speed bumps and is expected 280 
to install security cameras to monitor activity.  Ms. Thomsen stated the Eddie’s Dog Park had similar 281 
concerns and restrictions until it became apparent that there wasn’t an issue. 282 
 283 
Ms. Thomsen stated that signage could be installed regarding dogs to adhere to the Town Dog Ordinance. 284 
Bill Cumming, San Juan Park and Rec Commissioner, offered comments regarding animal control.  285 
Discussion followed regarding Town’s leash law. Commissioner Cumming stated that the Fields shouldn’t 286 
be restricted on any issue beyond the extent of the law otherwise rules become hollow. Discussion 287 
followed regarding other public use areas where enforcement is an issue such as beaches. 288 
 289 
Administrator Wilson suggested that O/M Agreement, Section 5A regarding gate closure be amended to 290 
read, “…provided however, the Town reserves the right to require closure during non-operation hours 291 
with 60 days notice to Island Rec.” 292 
 293 
Discussion followed regarding field security and misuse. Mr. Bertrand asked who is responsible for 294 
enforcing the closure of the field.  Commissioner Cumming stated that use during non-operation becomes 295 
a trespassing issue and the Sheriff’s Office should be called. 296 
 297 
Councilmember Monin asked how Island Rec would address concerns regarding noise and overuse.  Ms. 298 
Thomsen stated that it was a valid operational concern that they would address with the School District. 299 
Councilmember Monin explained that his concern stems from discussion with the District that the Fields 300 



TOWN COUNCIL MINUTES – Page 7 of 7 
Thursday, February 19, 2015 @ “Evening Session” 
 

C:\Users\std.TOFH\Desktop\min_temp\021915-pm.docx 

were developed with the intention of practice fields and have since become full functioning school sports 301 
fields including games, tournaments and sanctioned events. Councilmember Monin stated that the District 302 
shouldn’t have carte-blanche activities surrounded by Single Family Residential (SFR) zoning.  303 
Commissioner Cumming assured Councilmember Monin that his concerns have been heard and that 304 
if/when Island Rec assumes operations of the Fields they will be working closely with the District to insure 305 
the usage is compatible with the (SFR) zone and abutting neighborhoods. 306 
 307 
Councilmember de Freitas asked if the compromises discussed would be compatible with the 308 
neighborhood.  Councilmember Monin stated that noise and other activities are an issue of frequency 309 
and “once in a while” may be acceptable.  Councilmember de Freitas suggested that the O/M Agreement 310 
contain a provision that it gets reviewed periodically to address issues.  Administrator Wilson and Mr. 311 
Bertrand suggested provisional approval with review after twelve to twenty four months. 312 
 313 
Administrator Wilson reviewed the proposed language changes (stated above).  Staff will present them 314 
to Island Rec and the District and return with a draft for consideration.  Administrator Wilson suggested 315 
that O/M Agreement, Section 6C regarding reasonable use be amended to include, “…at all times the 316 
property will be used in a reasonable manner consistent… (with the SFR zone).” 317 
 318 
Mayor Lacher and the Council thanked Staff and Island Rec. 319 
 320 
FUTURE AND NON-AGENDA ITEMS 321 
Councilmember Ghatan reported that the striping on Blair Avenue was underway. 322 
 323 
Administrator Wilson noted that he would be unavailable on February 20th. 324 
 325 
CITIZEN RESPONSE 326 
No citizen response was forthcoming. 327 
 328 
ADJOURNMENT – Hearing no further business and no objection, Mayor Lacher adjourned the meeting 329 
at 7:23 p.m. The next regular meeting is scheduled for Thursday, March 5, 2015 at 12:00 p.m. 330 
 331 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 332 
These minutes were approved on March 5, 2015.  The original document is retained by the 333 
Clerk in the Town Council’s permanent records.  Attest:  Amy Taylor, Town of Friday Harbor 334 
Clerk 335 


